## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

# MOHAMMAD MOHAMMAD, On Habeas Corpus.

Case No. S259999

Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B295152 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BH011959 The Honorable William C. Ryan, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JANILL L. RICHARDS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
MICHAEL MONGAN
Solicitor General
LANCE E. WINTERS
Chief Assistant Attorney
General

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Proposition 57 amended the California Constitution to provide for early parole consideration for persons convicted of nonviolent felonies. Does the text of Proposition 57 both preclude consideration of the ballot materials to discern the voters' intent and prohibit the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation from enacting implementing regulations that exclude inmates who stand convicted of both nonviolent and violent felonies from early parole consideration?

#### INTRODUCTION

When the Governor introduced Proposition 57 to the voters, he assured them that "[v]iolent criminals as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) are excluded" from the proposed parole program. (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.) Proposition 57 passed, and the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation issued regulations implementing that promise. The regulations thus exclude inmates currently serving a term of incarceration for a violent felony listed in Penal Code section 667.5 from nonviolent parole, even when the inmate has also been convicted of a felony not listed in that section. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(5).)

Mohammad is such a mixed-offense inmate. He is currently serving a sentence for robbery, and is therefore a "violent criminal[] as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c)." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, at p. 59.) Because Mohammad was also sentenced at the same time for an

offense not listed in Penal Code section 667.5, however, he contends that he should eligible for the nonviolent parole program under the terms of Proposition 57 because he is a "person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32.)

Proposition 57 flatly precludes that result, and the Department therefore was required to exclude inmates like Mohammad who are currently serving a sentence for a violent felony listed in Penal Code section 667.5. Applying traditional rules of construction, the text of Proposition 57 (Cal. Const., art. 1, § 32) by itself is ambiguous because it does not speak to the eligibility of mixed-offense inmates. The text must therefore be read together with the ballot materials to discern voter intent. In the ballot materials, the voters were assured that inmates convicted of the violent felonies listed in section 667.5 would not be included in the nonviolent parole program. Further, including mixed-offense inmates like Mohammad would extend program eligibility to most of the State's prison population, well beyond the numbers estimated in the ballot materials. And including mixed-offense offenders would have the perverse effect of benefitting inmates who have been convicted of *more* crimes: An inmate who committed only a violent felony would not be eligible, but an inmate who committed a violent felony plus any nonviolent offense would be. The Department's mixed-offense exclusion, as applied to inmates like Mohammad, prevents those arbitrary results and is necessary to conform to voters' intent.

Even assuming the Department had discretion to promulgate some different mixed-offense inmate regulation, the Department did not clearly overstep its authority in excluding mixed-offense inmates like Mohammad. The voters were repeatedly assured that the program would be limited to nonviolent offenders and would keep "dangerous criminals behind bars." The regulations reasonably accomplish that pledge, excluding a class of inmates serving sentences for convictions on "extraordinary crimes of violence against a person" identified in Penal Code section 667.5. (Penal Code, § 667.5, subd. (c).)

The Court should reverse the judgment below and hold that Mohammad is ineligible for Proposition 57's nonviolent parole program.

#### BACKGROUND

### A. Prison Overcrowding and Proposition 57

Beginning in the 1980s and over the course of several decades, California saw its prison population "explode[] by 500%." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.)<sup>1</sup> Prisons were operating at double their design capacity, "imperiling the safety of both correctional employees and inmates." (*Brown v. Plata* (2011) 563 U.S. 493, 502.) State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Department filed excerpts from the Official Voter Information Guide pertaining to Proposition 57 as Exhibit 2 to the return to the order to show cause filed in the Court of Appeal. An archived version of the Voter Guide is also available at <a href="https://tinyurl.com/v7k2kgu">https://tinyurl.com/v7k2kgu</a> [as of April 29, 2020].

prisoners began to file federal lawsuits challenging conditions as early as 1990, alleging that overcrowding hindered the State's ability to provide adequate care to the mentally ill and to treat inmates with serious medical conditions. (*Plata*, *supra*, 563 U.S. at pp. 506-509.) In two companion cases, a three-judge court ordered the State to reduce its prison population by tens of thousands by 2013 or risk court-ordered release of state inmates. (*Id.* at p. 510.)

To avoid this result, the State took various measures to reduce its prison population. The Legislature passed Assembly Bill 109, which shifted "responsibility for criminals who commit 'non-serious, non-violent, and non-registerable sex crimes' from the state prison system to county jails." (Coleman v. Brown (E.D. Cal. 2013) 952 F.Supp.2d 901, 912.) The Legislature also enacted Senate Bill X3 18, which authorized a non-revocable parole program, ensuring that some inmates on parole would not be returned to prison for violating the conditions of release. (Id. at p. 912, fn. 7; Pen. Code, § 3000.03.) The State additionally implemented a court-ordered parole program, which offered "nonviolent, non-sex registrant, second-strike offenders" the opportunity to seek parole once they served 50 percent of their sentence. (See Coleman v. Brown (E.D. Cal. Dec. 1, 2014, No. 90-CV-520) Dkt. 2826 (Def. Report on New Parole Process);<sup>2</sup> see generally In re Ilasa (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 489, 501-503.) Through these efforts and others, California successfully reduced

its prison population by tens of thousands by 2016. (*Coleman*, supra, 952 F.Supp.2d at p. 912.)

Despite those achievements, without a "durable remedy," the risk of court-ordered release of inmates persisted. (*Coleman v. Brown* (E.D. Cal. 2013) 922 F.Supp.2d 1004, 1043.) Then-Governor Edmund G. Brown Jr. introduced Proposition 57, the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016, to address prison overcrowding while keeping dangerous offenders in custody. The Governor proposed an amendment to the California Constitution to "significantly modify parole consideration" for state prisoners. (*Brown v. Superior Court* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 335, 341.) The initiative proposed to amend the California Constitution to add Article I, section 32 to the Constitution, to read (in full):

- (a) The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid the release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law:
- (1) Parole Consideration: Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.
- (A) For purposes of this section only, the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.
- (2) Credit Earning: The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall have authority to award

credits earned for good behavior and approved rehabilitative or educational achievements.

(b) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.

(Voter Information Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 57, § 2, p. 141.) The preamble to the amendment asserted that the measure would "[p]rotect and enhance public safety"; "[s]ave money by reducing wasteful spending on prisons"; "[p]revent federal courts from indiscriminately releasing prisoners"; "[s]top the revolving door of crime by emphasizing rehabilitation, especially for juveniles"; and "[r]equire a judge not a prosecutor, to decide whether juveniles should be tried in adult court." (*Ibid.*)

In the ballot materials, the Governor advised voters that Proposition 57 offered a "common sense, long-term solution" to prison overcrowding by allowing "parole consideration for people with non-violent convictions who complete the full prison term for their primary offense." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.) According to the Governor, the measure would serve its inmate-reduction purpose but still "keep[] dangerous criminals behind bars," "keep[] the most dangerous offenders locked up," and apply "only to prisoners convicted of non-violent felonies." (*Ibid.*)

Opponents contended that Proposition 57 was "poorly drafted" (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, argument against

Proposition 57, at p. 59), and that its non-violent parole program would "APPL[Y] TO VIOLENT CRIMINALS," just "because [Proposition 57's] authors call [the inmate] non-violent." (*Id.* at p. 58.) They urged voters to reject the proposition, warning, "Don't allow more violent and dangerous criminals to be released early." (*Id.* at p. 59.)

The Governor in rebuttal assured voters that Proposition 57 "does NOT authorize parole for violent offenders," and specifically stated that "[v]iolent criminals as defined in Penal Code 667.5 are excluded from parole." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, rebuttal to argument against Proposition 57, at p. 59.) The Governor also explained that Proposition 57 would be "implemented" "through Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation regulations developed" only after "public and victim input and certified as protecting public safety." (*Ibid.*)

As relevant here, the Legislative Analyst observed that the text of Proposition 57 did not "specify which felony crimes are defined as nonviolent." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, analysis by Legislative Analyst, at p. 56.) To disclose practical effects, however, the Legislative Analyst assumed that a "nonviolent felony offense would include any felony offense that is not specifically defined" as a "violent felony" in Penal Code section 667.5. (*Ibid.*)<sup>3</sup> Based on this assumption, the Legislative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no general definition of "nonviolent felony" in the California Penal Code. The Penal Code defines "violent felony" in section 667.5, subdivision (c), for the purpose of imposing sentencing enhancements. It includes crimes like murder, robbery, arson and certain rapes. (Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (c).)

Analyst estimated that of the State's 128,000 inmates, approximately 30,000 (or less than a quarter of existing inmates)—and an additional 7,500 inmates a year—would become eligible for nonviolent parole consideration. (*Id.* at pp. 54, 56.)

On November 8, 2016, Proposition 57 passed with 64.5% of the vote. (Statement of Vote (Nov. 8, 2016) summary pages, p. 12;<sup>4</sup> see Cal. Const., art. I, § 32.)

### B. Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation's Implementing Regulations

The Department initiated a rulemaking process to adopt implementing regulations.<sup>5</sup> Among other things, "[t]he department propose[d] to clarify the definitions for the terms 'nonviolent,' 'full term,' and 'primary offense" for purposes of the nonviolent parole program. (Cal. Reg. Notice Register 2017, No. 28-Z, pp. 1037, 1039 (July 14, 2017).)<sup>6</sup> As relevant here, the proposed regulations defined a "nonviolent offender" as any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Available at <<u>https://elections.cdn.sos.ca.gov/sov/2016-general/sov/2016-complete-sov.pdf</u>> [as of April 29, 2020].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Secretary of the Department exercises plenary authority over "the supervision, management and control of the state prisons" as well as "the responsibility for the care, custody, treatment, training, discipline and employment of persons confined therein." (Pen. Code, § 5054.) To these ends, the Legislature vests the Secretary with broad power to "prescribe and amend rules and regulations for the administration of the prisons and for the administration of the parole of persons[.]" (*Id.*, § 5058, subd. (a).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Available at <<u>https://oal.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/166/2017/07/28z-2017.pdf</u>> [as of April 29, 2020.].

inmate who had not been sentenced to life in prison, was not "[s]erving a term of incarceration for a 'violent felony," and was not convicted of a registrable sex offense. (2017 Cal. Reg. Text 462644, § 3490, subd. (a) (July 14, 2017).) The Department proposed to define "violent felony" to mean a "crime or enhancement" set out in Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c). (*Id.*, § 3490, subd. (c).)

At the time the proposed regulations were open to public comment, they specifically included in the definition of "nonviolent offender" a small class of inmates who had been convicted of both violent and nonviolent felonies. The proposed definition of a "nonviolent offender" included (1) "an inmate who has completed a determinate term of incarceration for a violent felony and is currently serving a concurrent term for a nonviolent felony offense" and (2) an "inmate who has completed a determinate or indeterminate term of incarceration and is currently serving a determinate term for a nonviolent in-prison offense." (Id., § 3490, subds. (b)(1) and (b)(2).)7 Thus, under the proposed regulations, an inmate convicted of both a violent felony offense and another offense who had completed his sentence for a violent felony—but was still serving the portion of a sentence attributable to a concurrent offense not listed in section 667.5 would be eligible for early parole consideration. But an inmate who had not completed the violent-felony portion of a concurrent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Neither of these scenarios describes Mohammad's situation; he received nine *consecutive* sentences for his robbery conviction. Robbery is listed as a violent felony in Penal Code section 667.5.

sentence would be ineligible. Mixed-offense inmates who were sentenced to consecutive terms for a violent and nonviolent offense also were ineligible.

The Department received 41,000 comments from approximately 12,000 organizations and members of the public. (Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Final Statement of Reasons, Inmate Credit Earning and Parole Consideration (Apr. 30, 2018) at p. 1.)<sup>8</sup> Several comments addressed the eligibility of inmates convicted of both violent felony and other offenses. One commenter supported the proposed regulations, agreeing that inmates with "[m]ixed [s]entences should be eligible for parole consideration after completing their violent sentence time." (Id., commenter S1665-S1670, cmt. 5 at p. 760; see also id., commenter S1311.1 at p. 393.) Another thought the Department should expand eligibility further, so that "a person, who is serving a violent offense term with a nonviolent term, should be eligible for parole consideration," whether or not the inmate had finished the sentence for a concurrently sentenced violent felony offense. (*Id.* commenter A21.1 at p. 1381.)

Others disagreed with the Department's approach and believed that conviction of any violent felony offense should be disqualifying. One commenter, for example, stated that the proposed regulations would "betray[] the citizens of California

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Department has concurrently filed a Motion for Judicial Notice, attaching the Final Statement of Reasons (Ex. A), excerpts of the Department's Standard Responses (Ex. B), and excerpts of comments bearing on the nonviolent parole regulations (Ex. C).

because the citizens voted for a proposition that would not release violent offenders early" and argued that "if an inmate is convicted of both a violent and nonviolent offense, the inmate [should] be ineligible for early release." (*Id.*, commenter E1095.1 at p. 432.) Another disagreed "that a person who stands convicted of a violent crime [should] be considered a 'nonviolent offender,' because they are also convicted of a nonviolent offense." (*Id.*, commenter E572.4 at p. 440; see also *id.*, commenter S770.2 at p. 284; *id.*, commenter S203.1 at p. 992 ["[T]he proposed regulations impermissibly expand the definition of the term 'nonviolent offense' to include inmates who have completed a term for a violent offense and are now serving a determinate term for a nonviolent offense. This 'turns violent offenders into nonviolent' which circumvents the intent of Proposition 57"].)

In response, the Department revised its regulatory approach "to exclude inmates from the parole consideration process if they are concurrently sentenced to a violent felony and a nonviolent felony, regardless of which term may be completed first." (*Id.* at standard response #19, at p. 63.) "As a result, inmates who have completed a determinate term of incarceration for a violent felony and who are currently serving a concurrent term for a nonviolent felony will no longer be eligible for parole consideration under the proposed amendments." (*Ibid.*) The regulations continued to exclude mixed-offense inmates, like Mohammad, consecutively sentenced to a violent felony and a nonviolent felony from parole consideration. (*Id.* at p. 62.)

The final regulations define a nonviolent offender eligible for the nonviolent parole program as an inmate who is not: (1) condemned to death; (2) incarcerated to a term of life without the possibility of parole; (3) serving a term of life with the possibility of parole; (4) serving a determinate term prior to beginning a term of life with the possibility of parole, or prior to beginning a term for an in-prison offense that is a "violent felony"; (5) currently serving a term of incarceration for a "violent felony"; or (6) currently serving a term of incarceration for a nonviolent felony offense after completing a concurrent term for a "violent felony." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subds. (a)(1)-(a)(6).)9 A nonviolent offender includes an inmate who has "completed a determinate or indeterminate term of incarceration" for any offense, but "is currently serving a determinate term for an in-prison offense that is not a 'violent felony." (Id., § 3490, subd. (b).) A "violent felony" is a "crime or enhancement as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 667.5 of the Penal Code." (Id., § 3490, subd. (c).) Inmates who do not fall into one of the excluded categories are eligible for nonviolent parole

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Similar definitions apply to inmates serving indeterminate sentences. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3495, subd. (a).) After the initial notice and comment periods, the regulations were amended for reasons that are not relevant here. (See *In re Edwards* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 1181; *In re McGhee* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 902.) This Court is also currently reviewing the exclusion of individuals required to register as sex offenders under Penal Code 290 from the nonviolent parole program. (*In re Gadlin* (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 784, review granted May 15, 2019, S254599.)

consideration by the Board of Parole Hearings. (Id., §§ 3490-3497.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2012, Mohammad was sentenced to an aggregate sentence of 29 years on 15 counts, consisting of six counts of receipt of stolen property (Penal Code, § 496, subd. (a)) and nine counts of robbery (Penal Code, § 211). (Ret. to Order to Show Cause, C.A. No. B295152, Exh. 1.) Robbery is listed as a violent felony in Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c), but receiving stolen property is not. (Penal Code, § 667.5, subd. (c).) The trial court imposed consecutive sentences on all counts. (Ret. to Order to Show Cause, C.A. No. B295152, Exh. 1.) The "full term" of Mohammad's "primary offense"—the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1)(A)) was three years on Count 11 for receiving stolen property. (Ret. to Order to Show Cause, C.A. No. B295152, Ex. 1.) Mohammad also received subordinate consecutive sentences of eight months on his five other counts of receiving stolen property, and consecutive one-year sentences on his nine counts of robbery.  $(Ibid.)^{10}$ 

Four years after Mohammad's sentencing, the voters passed Proposition 57, and Mohammad requested nonviolent parole

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Mohammad also received gang sentencing enhancements on six counts. (Ret. to Order to Show Cause, C.A. No. B295152, Ex. 1.)

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