## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S259999

In re MOHAMMAD MOHAMMAD on Habeas Corpus. Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Five No. B295152

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. BA361122 Hon. William C. Ryan

## **Answer Brief on the Merits**

Michael Satris (SBN # 67413) Law Office of Michael Satris PO Box 337 Bolinas, CA 94924 (415) 868-9209 fax: (415) 868-2658 satrislaw.eservice@gmail.com

#

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

["California voters approved Proposition 57, dubbed the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016, at the November 2016 general election."].) "A major feature of the initiative was its design to reduce CDCR's population through amendment of the California Constitution to add article I, section 32, which provides in full:

(a) The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid the release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law:

(1) Parole Consideration: Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.

> (A) For purposes of this section only, the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.

(2) Credit Earning: The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall have authority to award credits earned for good behavior and approved rehabilitative or educational achievements.

(b) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety. (Cal. Const., art. I, §  $32^{1}$ ; see also *In re Edwards, supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1185 ["Under section 32(a)(1), 'Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.' (§ 32(a)(1)].) And for purposes of section 32(a)(1), 'the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.' (§ 32(a)(1)(A).)"].)

## C. CDCR's Implementing Regulations.

As set forth above, "Proposition 57 directed CDCR to adopt regulations 'in furtherance of section 32(a)' and 'certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.' (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (b)." (*In re Edwards, supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1187, brackets in quote deleted.) The courts to date already have invalidated as contrary to the Amendment certain CDCR regulatory exclusions of inmates whose primary offense is a nonviolent felony. (See, e.g., *id.* at pp. 1192–119 [invalidating CDCR's regulatory exclusion of third strikers whose primary offense was a nonviolent felony]; *In re McGhee* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 902, 905 [invalidating CDCR's regulatory exclusion from early parole consideration of "more than a third of otherwise eligible inmates based on their in-prison conduct"]; *In re Gadlin* (2018) 31 Cal.App.5th 784, review granted May 15, 2019, No.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise specified, references to sections are to this section of the California Constitution (hereafter "the Amendment" or "Section 32").

S254599 [invalidating CDCR's regulatory exclusion from early parole consideration of inmates whose primary offense was a nonviolent felony if they had previously been convicted of an offense requiring registration as a sex offender]; *In re Schuster* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 943, review granted Feb. 19, 2020, No. S260024 [following *Gadlin*]; *Alliance for Constitutional Sex Offense Laws v. Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 225, review granted May 27, 2020, No. S261362 [affirming trial court's invalidation of CDCR's regulatory exclusion from early parole consideration of inmates whose primary offense was a nonviolent felony if any of their current convictions required registration as a sex offender].)

Under review here is the Department's regulation -- California Code of Regulations, title 15, section 3490, subdivision (a)(5) -which the Court of Appeal invalidated insofar as it excluded from early parole consideration inmates whose primary offense was a nonviolent felony if they had a secondary offense that was a violent felony. (See typ. opn. 3–5, incl. fn. 2; see also Respondent's Opening Brief on Mertis (OB) 9 [invoking Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(5) to justify its preclusion of Mohammad from early parole consideration].)

As the Court below explained :

When defining those inmates who will be eligible for early parole consideration, CDCR's rulemaking took a different approach than the constitutional provision— focusing less on the nature of an offense committed by a person (i.e., "a nonviolent felony offense") and more on the person who commits one or more crimes. Specifically, for determinately sentenced inmates like Mohammad, CDCR's regulations adopt a definition of "nonviolent offender" (emphasis ours) to circumscribe eligibility: "A nonviolent offender, as defined in subsections 3490(a) and 3490(b), shall be eligible for parole consideration by the Board of Parole Hearings under the early parole consideration regulations at California Code of Regulations, title 15, sections 2449.1 et seq." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491.) Subsection 3490(a), in turn, describes a "determinately-sentenced nonviolent offender" by exclusion, not inclusion: "An inmate is a 'determinately-sentenced nonviolent offender' if none of the following are true: ... (5) The inmate is currently serving a term of incarceration for a 'violent felony'; ... see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (c) ["Violent felony' is a crime or enhancement as defined in subdivision (c) of section 667.5 of the Penal Code"].) The fifth criterion, excluding from the nonviolent offender definition inmates who are currently serving a term of imprisonment for a violent felony, appears to be the operative criterion in this proceeding.

(*In re Mohammad*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 723–724 [Typ. opn. 3–4], brackets deleted; see also OB 20 [setting forth Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490].)

### D. The Grant of Habeas Relief in the Court Below.

In determining whether CDCR's regulation was inconsistent with the Amendment, the Court of Appeal "g[a]ve effect to the oft-repeated maxim that the best and most reliable indicator of the intended purpose of a law is its text." (*In re Mohammad*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 722 [Typ. opn. 2], citing, among other cases, this Court's opinion in *California Cannabis Coal. v. City of*  *Upland* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 924, 933.) At the outset of its discussion, the Court of Appeal framed and answered the issue as follows:

The issue we decide is whether CDCR's implementing regulations that condition eligibility for early parole consideration on status as a "nonviolent offender" are consistent with the constitutional provision that authorizes their promulgation. As we shall explain, they are not.

(In re Mohammad, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 724–725 [Typ.

opn. 6.].)

And the Court of Appeal directly did explain how this regulation conflicts with the Amendment, stating:

Mohammad was convicted of a nonviolent felony offense, receiving stolen property. There is no dispute that his primary offense as the Constitution defines it ("the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense") is the principal term prison sentence he received for the count 11 receiving stolen property conviction. Nor is there any dispute that the "full term" in prison for that conviction, "excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence" was three years. Therefore, under the plain meaning of section 32(a)(1), Mohammad is eligible for early parole consideration now that he has served three years in prison.

(In re Mohammad, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 726 [Typ. opn. 9].)

#### **Standard of Review**

While never identifying the appropriate standard of review to resolve the issue here presented, CDCR appears to recognize that whether its regulation conflicts with the Amendment depends on this Court's ascertainment of the electorate's intent, a matter of law that the Court determines pursuant to its independent judgment. (See OB 27, citing, inter alia, *California Cannabis Coal. v. City of Upland, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 933.) As this Court observed in that case, "we apply independent judgment when construing constitutional and statutory provisions." (*Id.* at p. 934.)

In sum, the standard of review here is just as the court below described it, quoting *Edwards*:

"In order for a regulation to be valid, it must be (1) consistent with and not in conflict with the enabling statute and (2) reasonably necessary to effect uate the purpose of the statute." [Citations.] Therefore, "the rulemaking authority of the agency is circumscribed by the substantive provisions of the law governing the agency." [Citation.] "The task of the reviewing court in such a case is to decide whether the agency reasonably interpreted its legislative mandate. Such a limited scope of review constitutes no judicial interference with the administrative discretion in that aspect of the rulemaking function which requires a high degree of technical skill and expertise. There is no agency discretion to promulgate a regulation which is inconsistent with the governing statute. Whatever the force of administrative construction final responsibility for the interpretation of the law rests with the courts.

Administrative regulations that alter or amend the statute or enlarge or impair its scope are void.' [Citation.]"

(*In re Mohammad*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 725 [Typ. opn. 9], quoting *In re Edwards*, *supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1189, ellipses and brackets omitted.)

#### Argument

I. MOHAMMAD 'S EXCLUSION FROM EARLY PAROLE CONSIDERATION IS CONTRARY TO SECTION 32(A)(1), WHICH EXTENDS SUCH CONSIDERATION TO ALL PRISONERS WHOSE PRIMARY OFFENSE IS A NONVIOLENT FELONY CONVICTION.

CDCR and the court below agree that resolution of Mohammad's claim requires a determination whether the electorate intended to include him in its prison populationreduction program for early parole consideration that the electorate established "to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid release of prisoners by federal court order" (§ 32(a)). (Compare *In re Mohammad, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at 727 & 725, respectively [Typ. opn. 10 & 7, respectively] ["we look for evidence of the voters' intent" to "giv[e] effect to the intended purpose of the provisions at issue"] with OB 27, quoting *Arias v. Superior Court* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 978–979, ellipsis deleted ["When interpreting voter initiatives, a court's 'primary task' is 'to ascertain the intent of the electorate so as to effectuate that intent."].) Mohammad concurs. The parties and the court below further concur that divining the intent of the electorate typically is accomplished by examination of the text itself. As CDCR put it:

Courts look "first to the words of the initiative measure, as they generally provide the most reliable indicator of the voters' intent." (*Arias, supra,* 46 Cal.4th at p. 979.) In doing so, a court ascribes "to words their ordinary meaning, while taking account of related provisions and the structure of the relevant statutory and constitutional scheme." (*Cal. Cannabis Coalition, supra,* 3 Cal.5th at 933.) If the language is clear and unambiguous, the "plain meaning of the language governs." (*People v. Colbert* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 596, 603.)

(OB 27.)

And, as the Court of Appeal put it, after "giv[ing] effect to the oft-repeated maxim that the best and most reliable indicator of the intended purpose of a law is its text" (*In re Mohammad*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 722 [Typ. opn. 2]):

There is nothing ambiguous about what section 32(a)(1) means in this case, and there is accordingly no cause to look beyond the text to ballot materials or other extrinsic evidence of the voters' intent. (*Silicon Valley Taxpayers' Assn., Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 444–445.)

(*In re Mohammad*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 727 [Typ. opn. 10].)

CDCR parts ways with both the court below and Mohammad on the question whether the text plainly extends early parole consideration to him, a mixed-offense prisoner whose nonviolent felony offense is his primary offense and whose violent offenses are secondary ones that run consecutive and subordinate to that primary and principal offense. Mohammad demonstrates below that contrary to CDCR's argument that "[t]he Department was required to exclude" Mohammad from Proposition 57's program for early parole consideration (OB 25), the Department was required to find him eligible for such consideration. After all, he was "convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" that was his "primary offense" and had served his "full term" on that offense within the meaning of Proposition 57's use of those quoted phrases.

Mohammad first demonstrates CDCR's obligation to find him eligible for early parole consideration by consideration of the text of the Amendment itself. He then demonstrates that consideration of that text informed by the voter material reinforces rather than changes that analysis. Finally, he sets forth further considerations that support a finding that the electorate intended to include him in its aim to reduce the prison population.

### A. The Department's Regulatory Exclusion of Mohammad From Early Parole Consideration Conflicts with the Plain and Unambiguous Text of Section 32 (a)(1), Which Extends Such Parole Consideration to Him.

Proposition 57 provides: "Any person convicted of a nonviolent offense shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1).) To the degree those words are not plain and unambiguous on their face, they are explicitly defined in the statute: "The full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence." (*Id.*, subd. (a)(1)(A).)

As CDCR recognizes: "The 'full term' of Mohammad's 'primary offense'-the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1)(A))— was three years on Count 11 for receiving stolen property." (OB 21; see also In re Mohammad, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 726 [Typ. opn. 9] ["Nor is there any dispute that the 'full term' in prison for that conviction, 'excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence' was three years."].) CDCR further recognizes that receiving stolen property is a nonviolent felony offense under both the Penal Code and its own regulations implementing Proposition 57. (See, e.g., *id.* at p. 724 [Typ. opn. 4], quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (c) ["Violent felony' is a crime or enhancement as defined in subdivision (c) of section 667.5 of the Penal Code"].) "Therefore, under the plain meaning of section 32(a)(1), Mohammad is eligible for early parole consideration now that he has served three years in prison." (In re Mohammad, supra, at p. 726 [Typ. opn. 9].) This is so because the Amendment unambiguously extends early parole consideration to all prisoners whose primary offense is a nonviolent felony conviction.

CDCR resists this plain reading of the Amendment, asserting that "Proposition 57 flatly precludes that result, and the Department therefore was required to exclude inmates like Mohammad who are currently serving a sentence for a violent felony listed in Penal Code section 667.5." (OB 10.) In so asserting, CDCR overlooks the critical fact that Mohammad's violent felony convictions are secondary to his primary offense, with terms subordinate to the principal term he is serving for his nonviolent felony conviction. Contrary to CDCR's assertion, Proposition 57 speaks very clearly to the eligibility of mixedoffense inmates like Mohammad whose primary or principal offense is a nonviolent felony: Those inmates are eligible for early parole consideration once they have served the full term for that offense, just as the Court of Appeal held.

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